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Shellpoint Mortgage Servicing et al Do

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MIKEL A. TOYE; LOUISE TOYE, Case N019-cv-02322BAS-LL

Plaintiffs,
ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’

V. MOTIONS TO DISMISS

NEWREZ LLG, et al, (ECF Nos.13, 15)
Defendans.

Plaintiffs Mikel and Louise Toye filed a First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) alleg
three causes of action for: (1¢nforcement of rescission under Truth in Lending A
1635 et seq;”(2) violation of Caifornia’'s Homeowner Bill of Rightsand (3) quiet title
(ECF No. 12.)Bank of America, N.A. (“BANA”"), Newrez LLC (“Newrez”), and Bank
New York Mellon (“BONY”) filed Motions to Dismiss. (ECF Nos. 13, 15)Jaintiffs
responded (EF Nos. 17, 20), and Defendants replE€F Nos. 23, 26 The Court findg
thesamattessuitable for determination on the papers submitted and without oral argy
SeeCiv. L.R. 7.1(d)1). For the reasons stated below, the CRIRANTS the Motions tq

Dismiss
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l. BACKGROUND

A. Plaintiffs’ Allegations

On June 13, 200@laintiff Mikel Toye, as “a married ma@and as his sole an
separate property,” took out an adjustable rate mortgage for $522,000.00 on the
Property from Mortgageit, Inc. (not named as a defendant in this q&3%&{ 11 13-14.)
On June 21, 2006, Mikel Toye recorded an Interspousal Transfer Grant Deed tran
the Subject Property to him and his wife, Plaintiff Louise Toliasband andvife as joint
tenants.” [d.  17.)

Plaintiffs further allege that the identity of thender and the terms of the financ
in the loanwere “misrepresented,” so Plaintiffs mailed a written notice of rescissiol
September 5, 2008FAC 1116,18, Ex 1.) “[ N]Jo Defendant refunded the interest, fina

charges or payments, or completed the steps of rescissitoh.™ 34.) Further, “no

Defendant filed a court action to seek an equitablerdering of the steps of rescissiop.

(1d.)
Instead, on October 19, 2010, rod&fendant Reconstrust Company, N.A.,

affiliate of Defendant BANA, recorded a Notice of Default againstQigectProperty
(“2010 Ndice of Default”) (FAC 1 19.) To stop foreclosure, Plaintiffs were instructe
pay the full amount due to Defendant BONYd. § 20.)

“On or about January 21, 2011, Plaintiffs recorded a Quitclaim Deed givi

undivided 50% interest in the [subject] property” to Judy and Steven Lucore, in exd

for a $30,000 loan from the Lucoreghich was allegedlpased o promissory note date

August 20, 2006. (FAC 1 24.Dn November 25, 2011, the Lucores filed Chapte
Bankruptcy. [d. 142.) Neither goroof of claimnor amotion for relief from stay was file
in the Lucores’ bankruptcy before an unlawful detainer action was filed againstffala
(Id. 143.) Thus, the Lucores filedraotion for contempt for violation of their automat
stay, and it was granted with an order to vacate all foreclosure efforts against the L
(Id. 144.)
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On or about August 28, 2014, Plaintiff Louise Toye filed a Chapter 13 bankr
(FAC 151.) Inthis bankruptcy, BONY filed its first Proof of Clafor debt on the Subje
Property signed December 11, 20X4. § 52.) BANA claimed to be the loan servicer
the loan. (Id.) Louise Toye objected to the proof of claim, and the bankruptcy court
thatevidence tended “to establish that at the time BONY filed its Claim, [BANZY in
possession of the Note and may not have had the authority to hold the Note as §
agent.” (d. 155.)

BONY and Louise Toye eventually agreed to remove the loan from the bankr
(FAC 1 59.) And, on July 2019,DefendantNewrez “sent Plaintiffs a statement claim
that they owed $64,991.61, and that there was a cldimgstanding principalowed of
$458,897.29.”1d. 1 60.) Newrez later sent Mikel Toye “a Notice of Default and Inter]
Accelerate dated July 8, 2019 attempting to collect a claimed default 80$a3i.” (d.
161.)

Plaintiffs filed their initial Complaint on December 5, 2019. (ECB. N.)

Defendantsifed motions to dismissclaiming that the causes of actitailed and were

time-barred. (ECF Nos. 7, 10.) Plaintiffs now file thisst Amended Complaint seekir

in the first cause of action to complete rescission of the loan begun on Septembe¢

2008. (FAC 11 64103.) In the second cause of action, Plaing#sk injunctive relie
under California Civil Code section 2924.12, which is pa@alifornia’s Homeowner Bil
of Rights ("HBOR”). (Id. 1 104-19.) Specifically, Plaintiffs claim thathte “foreclosure
documents recorded” failed to note that the loan had been rescinded in 2008 and
“note had been found to be evidentiarily deficient by the bankruptcy cqldt.§ 106.)

Plaintiffs file no third cause of action but skip to the fourth cause of ag
requesting that the Court quiet title to the Subject Property based on the Septeml
rescission (FAC 1 12630.)

Defendants Newrez and BONY move to dismiss. (BONY & Newrez’s Mot.,
No. 13.) Defendant BANA also moves to miss. (BANA's Mot., ECF No. 15,
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Defendants assert that the causes of action are barred by their statutes of linaitet
areotherwise deficient.

B. Requests for Judicial Notice

To support their Motion to Dismiss, Newrez and BONY request judmatite of
several recorded documents for the Subject Property, including the Deed of
underlying this dispute and a second Notice of Default recorded on September 1
(2019 Notice of Default”). (ECF No. 14.) These Defendants also requeshjuthtice
of certain filings from Plaintiffs’ bankruptcgases (Id.) In addition, BANA request
judicial notice of the same Deed of Trust dhed2019 Notice of Default. (ECF No. 16
Plaintiffs “object and oppose that any” of these documents “be used for determing
the facts of this matter on the basis that each and every document chaisgy
statements that are subject to dispute and therefore, are improper matters for
notice.” (ECF Nos. 18, 21.)

Federal Rule of Evidence 201 provides that courts may take judicial notice g
that are not subject to reasonable dispute because they are generally known or ars
of accurateandreadydetermination.SeeFed. R. Evid. 201(b)In the foreclosureontext,

courts routinely take judicial notice of publietgcorded documents, including deeds

trust and notices of default, to resolve motions to disnge®, e.gGriffin v. Green Tree

Servicing, LLC 166 F. Supp. 3d 1030, 1040 (C.D. Cal. 20tb)lecting caseskee alsd
Mann v. NationstarMortg., LLC, 632 F. Appx 410, 412 (9th Cir. 2016)Gale v. First
Franklin Loan Servs599 F. Appx 286, 287 (9th Cir. 2015)

The Court finds it appropriate to take judicial notice ofrdriested title document
including the2006 Deed of Trustthe 2010 Notice of Default, anthe 2019 Notice of
Default. These documenitgear directly on Plaintiffs’ claims and are appropriate sub

of judicial notice. Further, although Plaintiffs’ factual allegations do platinly mention

the recording of the2019 Notice of Default,seeFAC | 1363), they ask the Court {

enjoin nonjudicial foreclosure proceedingsedid. {1 104-19). In doing so, their secof

cause of actiormentionsDefendants recorded a “Shellpoint NOD . . . to affect
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unauthorized trustee sale.ld(] 109.) There is no dispute that the 2019 Notice of De
Is the referenced document.
That said, the Court only takes judicial notice of the existence of these doct
and their content, not the truth there&@ee, ., Romero v. Securus Techs., |16 F.
Supp. 3d 1078, 1085 (S.D. Cal. 2016iting Lee v. City of Los Angele250 F.3d 668
689-90 (9th Cir. 2001) (“While matters of public record are proper subjects of jud
notice, a court may take notice ordf/the existence and authenticity of an item, not
truth of its contents.”). The Court declines to take judicial notice of the other req
documents because they are not necessary for the Court’s resolution of Defd
Motions to Dismiss.
Il LEGAL STANDARD
A motion to dismiss pursuant tBule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Ciy
Procedure tests the legal sufficiency of the claims asserted in the complaihtR. Civ,
P. 12(b)(6);Navarro v. Block250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir. 2001)he court must acce
all factual allegations pleaded in the complaint as true and must construe them a
all reasonable inferences from them in favor of theemoring party. Cahill v. Liberty
Mut. Ins. Co, 80 F.3d 336, 3388 (9th Cir. 1996).To avoid a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal
complaint need not contain detailed factual allegations; rather, it must plead “enou
to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fadgell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb[y650 U.S|
544, 570 (2007)"A claim hasfacial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual cont
that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable
misconduct alleged.”Ashcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citingvombly 550
U.S. at 556). “Where a complaint pleads facts that are ‘merely consistent wi
defendant’s liability, it ‘stops short of the line between possibility and plaibgiloi
entitlement to relief.” Id. (quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 557).

“[A] plaintiff's obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relig

requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elemg

cause of action will not do." Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (alteration in original) (quot
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Papasan v. Allaind78 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)A court need not accept “legal conclusiol
as true.lgbal, 556 U.S. at 678Despite the deference the court must pay to the plain
allegations, it is not proper for the court to assume that “the [plaintiff] can progetiiet
it has not alleged or that the defendants have violated the . . . law[] in ways that h
been alleged.”Assoc. Gen. Contractors of Cal., Inc. v. Cal. State Council of Carpe
459 U.S. 519, 526 (1983).
. ANALYSIS

A.  Count One—Enforcementof Rescission

Under the Truthin Lending Act (“TILA”), if a creditor fails to make the requir
disclosures, a borrower is given three years from the loan’s consummation date to
certain loansHoang v. Bank of America, N,AR10 F.3d 1096, 1098t Cir. 2019)citing
15 U.S.C. 81635(f). “Borrowers may effect that rescission simply by notifying
creditor of their intent to rescind within the thngear period’ 1d. (citing Jesinoski v
Countrywide Home Loans, IncG74 U.S. 259, 262 (2015) “Within 20 days after thg

creditor receives a notice of rescission, the creditor must take steps to wind up th

tiff's

ave [

nters

9%
o

resc

the

1%

e loa

Id. at 1100 (citing 15 U.S.C. 8635(b). “ Upon the performance of the creditoI:’s

obligations under this section, the [borrower] shall tender the property to the credi
[or] tender its reasonable valugOnce both creditor and borrower have so acted, the
has been wound upld. (alterations in original) (citation omitted) (quotii® U.S.C. §
1635(b).

In this case, Plaintiffs allege the terms of the loan taken out on June 13\26@6
misrepresented.” (FAC 1 18.) Therefore, Plaiatifhely mailed a notice of rescission

September 5, 200§1d.) However, the rescission was apparently ignored, and on O

19, 2010, a Notice of Default was recorded against the property fgpayanent of the

rescinded mortgage(ld. 1 19.) The creditor did not take steps to wind up the loan
was the loan wound ugld. 1 34.) Nonetheless, Plaintiffs waited anothereyears befor

filing this action to enforce rescission of the loan.
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The facts iHoangwere remarkably similar to the facts in this caseH®ang the
borrowersenta notice of intent to rescind because of improper notices within three
of financing the loan910 F.3d at 1099The lender took no actiorid. The Ninth Circuit

then addressed the issue: “when a borrower effectively rescinds a loan under TILA

steps are taken to wind up the loan, when must suit be brought to enforce thsiorEag

Id. at 1100. The plaintiff inHoang just like Plaintiffs in this case, argued that, as lon
the rescission had been accomplished in three years, no other statute of limitations
Id. at 1101. The Ninth Circuit disagreed.

The NinthCircuit concluded that there is a statute of limitations applicable to ’
rescission enforcement awts. Id. The court must borrow from analogous state lay
determine what that statute of limitations ikl. Sincea loan agreements a written
cortract, any action to rescind that loan (under TILA or otherwise) arises out of that \
agreement, and, therefore, the statute of limitations applicable to breach of contrast
to such an actionld. The statute of limitationfor a breach of contract action in Califorr
Is four years. CalCiv. Proc. Code8 337, see alsalamali v. Martingale Ins, LLC, No.
B290141, 2019 WL 5956925, at *8 (Cal. Ct. App. Nov. 13, 20@9)published)

(discussingHoangand using California’s fouyear statute ofimitations for a quiet title

year
but
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appli
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v to
vritte
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claim based on rescission under TILAPRIlaintiffs in this case waited nine years before

filing this action to enforce rescission of the loan. Therefore, the first cause of ag
barred by the statute of limitations.

Plantiffs argue thaHoangwaswrongly decided because it contradicts the Supr
Court’s decision inJesinoski (Opp’n to BANA’s Mot. 14:2#15:2,ECF No. 17.) Bu
Hoangspecifically addressedesinoskand found it left open the issue of “when a su
enforce the rescission must be brought after a lender’s failure to act on that n(
rescission.”910 F.3d at 1100Hoangsquarely addressed that issue.

Plaintiffs further argue thaloangwas basedn Washington state law, whereas
property at issue in this case is located in Californfapp(n to BANA's Mot. 15:3-8.)
This Court agrees. Because the property at issue is located in California 3
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Washington, California four-year statute dfmitations applies and not Washingtesix-

year statute of limitationsSeeJamali, 2019 WL 5956925, at *8Finally, Plaintiffs argue

that the statute of limitations begins to run at the time of the brg@p’'n to BANA's

L4

Mot. 15:8-15.) Again, theCourt agrees. Plaintiffs are arguing that Defendants should

have honored the rescissimotice mailed on September 5, 2008Thus, the breac

occurred when Defendants failed to do stee Hoang910 F.3d at 1102.The breach

occurred long before this lawsuit was filed in December 2019, and well outside th

year statute of limitations. Hence, this claim must be dismissed.

h

e fou

Further, although generally a court granting a motion to dismiss should grant leax

to amend, leave need not be granted when any amendment would be an exendisg, i
“such as when the claims are barred by the applicable stdtirtatations.” Hoang 910
F.3dat 1103(citing Platt Elec. Supply Inc. v. EOFF Elec., In622 F.3d 1049, 1060 (9
Cir. 2008)). GrantingPlaintiffs leave to amend theiescissionclaim under TILAIn a
Second Amended Complawbuld be futile. This claim’s untimeliness “is not a probl
that can be solved by changes to the pleadings,” and the Court discerns “no additio
or alternative theories that could be addedthFirst Amended Complaint to maklkee
rescissiorclaim timely. SeeRandhawa v. Bank of New York Mellddo. 218-cv-02244

JAM AC PS, 2019 WL 1294447, at *4 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 21, 2Qi8asoning granting leaye

to amenda timebarred TILA rescission claim would be futilepdopted by2019 WL
2160356E.D. Cal. Apr. 17, 2019 Thus, the Court will dismiss this claiwith prejudice.
B. Count Four—Quiet Title

The Court next addresses Plaintiffs’ quiet title claim becdusealerivative of their

TILA rescissiorclaim. A cause of action to quiet title must descrifd® the property

(2) the basis ofheplaintiff’s title; (3) the adverse claims theplaintiff's title; (4) the date

1 See also, e.gMadsen v. Bank of Am. N,ANo. 1:18CV-00803CL, 2019 WL 1373688, at *
(D. Or. Mar. 6, 2019) (reasoning tirl@arred TILA rescission claim should be dismissed with prejud

th

em

hal fa

ice),

adopted by2019 WL 1371134 (D. Or. Mar. 25, 201%)ennekamp v. Carrington Mortg. Servs., L.LC

No. 1:18-cv-01374AD-SAB, 2019 WL 528440, at *5 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 11, 2019) (same).

-8-
19¢cv2322




© 00 N o o b~ W N PP

N NN RN NN DNNNDNRRR R R B R R B
W ~N O O N W N P O ©O© 0 ~N o 0 A W N R O

as of which the determination $®ught and (5) a prayer for giving superior title ttoe
plaintiff against the adverse claimg&al. Civ. Proc. Code § 761.02@urther, he court
examines the underlying theory aklief to determine the applicable period of limitatib
for a quiet tile claim. Salazar v. Thomag36 Cal. App. 4th 467, 476 (2015). This inqu
“requires the court to identify the nature (i.e., ti@vamei) of the cause of acticn.Id.
(quotingHensler v. City of Glendal& Cal. 4th 1, 22 (199%1)

Plaintiffs ask the Court to quiet title to tBabjectProperty based on tretempted
2008 rescissiodiscussed above(FAC 1119-29.) Plaintiffs’ theory is that because t
loanand its accompanying deed of trust were “rescinded in 2@8&"title to the Subjec
Property is superior to all others.Sde idf1120-24.) Hence, Plaintiffs ask the Coud
guiet title in their favor and against Defendants’ purportedly adverse claims to the §
Property. [d. 11 124-27.)

This claim is deficient for the sameas®ns as Plaintiffs’ TILAescissiorclaim. The
gravamen of the quiet title claim is their TILA rescission theory of relief. efbe, the
statute of limitations for this clains the same as the one discussed ab@®®eJamali
2019 WL 5956925, at *& To determine the statute of limitations that applies in a (
title action, we refer to the underlying theory of relief, which in this case is the
rescissiori). And because the TILA rescission theory underlying Plaintiffs’ quiet
claim is barred by the statute of limitations, their quiet title claim alsodailtis basis
See id(reasoning thahetrial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing leave to ar
to state a quiet title claim based on TILA rescission because “the statutatafiding
barred an action based on rescission utiderILA ”). Moreover, granting leave to ame
this claim would similarly be futile.Given that the timdoarred TILA rescissionclaim
cannot be saved by amendment, Plaintiffs’ derivative quiet title claim cannot be sg
either See id.Therefore, the Court will dismiss this claim with prejudice.

C. Count Two—Violation of the HBOR

Plaintiffs’ remaining claim alleges that Defendants are violai@gjifornia’s
Homeowner Bill of Rights. (FAC {1 10419.) Plaintiffs seek “an injunction” again

-9-
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Defendants tstop a trustee salea nonjudicial foreclosure-of the Subject Property “untj

Defendants have cured all material violations of HBORd. { 116.)

“In the HBOR, thdCalifornia] Legislature addressed when courts may intercegde in

the nonjudicial foreclosure schemel’ucioni v. Bank of Am., N.A3 Cal.App. 5th 150
161 (2016). California’s nonjudicial foreclosure scheme is tied to deeds ofvihush
“have largely replaced mortgages as the primary real property security’ desadan the
state. SeeCalvo v. HSBC Bank USA, N,A99 Cal. App. 4th 118, 125 (2011)

“A deed of trust to real property acting as security for a loan typically has
parties: the trustor (borrower), the beneficidender), and the truste€The trustee hold
a power of sale.lf the debtor defaults on the loan, the beneficiary may demand th
trustee conduct a nonjudicial foreclosure Sadvanova v. New Century Mortg. Carp2
Cal. 4th 919, 926 (2016Quoting Biancalana v. T.D. Serv. Go56 Cal. 4th 807, 81

thre
S
at the

3

(2013). California’s “nonjudicial foreclosure system is designed to provide the lgnder

beneficiary with an inexpensive and efficient remedy against a defaulting borrower
protecting the borrower from wrongful loss of the property and ensuring that a prn
conducted sale is final between the grand conclusive as to a bona fide purchaddr.
The nonjudicial foreclosure process starts with the trustee recording a notice of def:
election to sell.Cal. Civ. Code § 2924(a)(1). After a waiting perithdthe borrower doe
not exercisdnis or her rights of reinstatement or redemption, the property is sold at g
to the highest biddeér Yvanova62 Cal. 4that 927 (citing Cal. Civ. Code § 2924g(a)).

The California Legislature originally enacted the HBOR in 20d#le the state wa

“still reeling from the economic impacts of a wave of residential property éstgels that

began in 20072 Lucioni, 3 Cal. App. 5that157. “Much of the HBOR contains procedul

to help borrowers obtain alternatives to foreclosuréd. The law also createtivo

2 “As enacted, many sections of tHHBOR were subject to aunseprovision, effective Januaf
1, 2018. However, the Legislaturegpacted many of its provisions, effective Jandarg018.” Quach
v. Specialized Loa®ervicingLLC, No. H044641, 2020 WL 606776, at *4 (Cal. Ct. App. Feb. 5, 2
(citation omitted).

-10 -
19¢v2322

whil

operl
ault a
S
uctio

S

es

y
N20)




© 00 N o o b~ W N PP

N NN RN NN DNNNDNRRR R R B R R B
W ~N O O N W N P O ©O© 0 ~N o 0 A W N R O

statutory provisions, California Civil Codsections2924.12(a)(1) and 2924.19(a)(
which “allow a borrower to enjoin a foreclosure when a lender violates other sps
HBOR sections Id. Most of the specified secins “place duties upon a lender befor
may record a notice of defaliltSeed.

Plaintiffs rely on one ofthe HBOR'’s injunctive relief provisions-section
2924.12(a)(B-to bring theirsecondcause of action (FAC Y 105, 116.) To enjoin
nonjudicial foreclosure under this provision, Plaintiffs must state a cause of actio

“material violation” of one of seven statutory provisions: California Civil Ceeletiong

2923.55, 2923.6, 2923.7, 2924.9, 2924.10, 2924.11, or 2924&&&Cal. Civ. Code §

2924.12(a)(1)see alsd.ucioni, 3 Cal. App. 5th at 158Plaintiffsidentify severabf these

provisionsassupport for theiseconccause of action.
1. Section 2924.17

This provision of the HBOR provides that “[a] declaration recorded pursua

[Civil Code] Section 2923.5 or pursuant to Section 2923.55” and “a notice of defa

bCifi

e it

n for

ANt tc
it . .

recorded by or on behalf of a mortgage servicer . . . shall be accurate and complete :

supported by competent and reliable evidéndgal. Civil Code § 2924.17(a). Furthg
section2924.17 requires that before these items are recorded, “a mortgage serviq
ensure that it has reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the 'Isg
default and the right to foreclose, including the borrosvdoan status and |04
information” 1d. § 2924.17(b).

The California Court of Appeal interpreted this provisionLurcioni v. Bank o
America, N.A, 3 Cal. App. 5th 150 (2016). There, the borrower sought to enjoi

foreclosure under a separate provision of the HBOR, California Civil Ged&on

3 Plaintiffs’ HBOR claim is captioned with section 2924.17. (FAC 16:4-6.) That saidtif¥a

mention both sections 2924.17 and 2924.9 in the allegations for their cause of &sendf{ 106-07,

B,
er st
rrow

N

N his

112-14.) Further, they emphasize “section[] 2923.7 in one paragraph and include a factual allegation

that relates to this statute’s requirements in another paragr&ae id.q1 16, 117.) In generousl
construing Plaintiffs’ pleading, the Court will address each of ttheee mentionegdrovisons—sectiong
2924.17, 2924.9, and 2423.7.
-11 -
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2924(a)(6). This statute provides that only the holder of the beneficial interest unde
of trust may initiate the foreclosure process. Cal. Civ. Code § 2924(a)(6). The “gray
of theLucioniborrower’s claim was that the defendangsthe foreclosing lenders, lack(
the authority to foreclose on the property because they were not properly assig
interest in the ded of trust.” 3 Cal. App. 5th at 15598. Howeverthe Court of Appea
noted that the HBOR'’s provisions authorizing injunctive relief for enumerated viol:
do not mentiorsection2924(a)(6). Id. at 15859. Thereforealthough the HBOR ma|
allow theborrower to bring a “postforeclosure cause of action for damages” based
defendants allegedly initiating the foreclosure without a valid interest in the proper
borrower could nopreemptively stop the foreclosure on this batisat 161.

The Court of Appeal also considered whether the borrower could amel
complaint to rely orsection2924.17#-the provision Plaintiffs invoke hereto reach §
different result. Lucioni, 3 Cal. App. 5th at@1-62. The borrower argued this provisi
“makes t ‘the foreclosing entity’s duty to show it has the right to forecloséd” The
Court of Appeal rejected this argumeid. at 163. It explained:

Section 2924.17 creates a procedural right directed at the requirement
for adeclarationthat a differen HBOR provision (8 2923.55) requires a
mortgage servicer to file at the time of the notice of defailtbdivision (a)

of section 2924.17 states that the declaration must be “accurate and complet

and supported by competent and reliable evidenddé purpose of the
declaration, as explained by section 2923.55, is to ensure that particula
information is provided to the borrower before the notice of default is filed.
Subdivisions (a) and (b) of section 2923.55 provide that the foreclosing entity
may not record a notice of default unless it first sends the borrower specified
information, including, among other things, a statement that the borrower mayj
request “[a] copy of any assignment, if applicable, of the borfeweortgage
or deed of trust required to demonstrate the right of the mortgage servicer tq
foreclose.” Section 2923.55, subdivision (c) requires that the foreclosing
entity file, with the notice of default, a declaration stating that it has contacted
the borrower, tried with due diligence to contact the borrower, or that no
contact was required because the property owner did not meet the statutor
definition of “borrower.” This is theleclaration referenced in section
2924.17. The statute does not require the declaration to contain a stateme
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about the right to foreclosdhe declaration concerns only fleadets efforts
to contact the borrower to provide the required information.

Another subdivision of section 2924.17 contains an important
additional requirement for the declarai@ubdivision (b) of section 2924.17
states that before filing thaeclaraion, a mortgage servicer “shall ensure that
it has reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the b@rower
default and the right to foreclose, including the borrogvésan status and
loan information.” The statute, however, does not regua statement in the
declaration about the default and the right to forecldSebdivision (b) of
section 2924.17 is directed at ensuring the foreclosing entitgview[ ]” of
its right to foreclose.

Id. at 162-63 (footnotes omitted)
Simply put, “[ s]ectiors 2924.17and 2923.55do not create a right to litigats

preforeclosure, whether the foreclosing pariyonclusion that it had the right to foreclc

137

pSe

wascorrect” Lucioni, 3 Cal. App. 5th at 163. Consequently, the Court of Appeal

concluded the borrower could not amend his complairstetkinjunctive relief under

section 2924.17 based on the defendants’ alleged laekitbbrity to foreclos on the
property. Id. at 164 see alspe.g, Ghalehtak v. Fay Servicing, LL.Glo. 17CV-05976
EMC, 2017 WL4805589, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 25, 201{F)California law does ng
contemplate a mirtrial on the merits of the lender’s right to foreclose prior to the
judicial foreclosure).

The Court has taken judicial notice of t@l9Notice of Default. (ECF No. 13.)
Attached to the Notice of Default is the declaration requirecCalfornia Civil Code

section2923.55. [d.) In the declaration, a Loss Mitigation Specialist for Newrez degl

“The Mortgage servicer has contacted the Borrower pursuant to California Civil ¢

2923.55(b)(2) to ‘assess the borrower’s financial situation and explore options
borrower to avoid foreclosure.” Id.) Hence, the declaration meetise HBOR's
requirements discussed lmcioni. See3 Cal. App. 5th at 163 (“The statute does
require the declaration to contain a statement about the right to foretloseleclaratior
concerns only the lendar efforts to contact the borrower to provide the requ
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information?). Plaintiffs, however, advance several theories for why they believe sectior
2924.17hasnonethelesbeen violated.

Rescission and Note Deficiencylnitially, Plaintiffs allege Defendants violated

section 2924.17 because the Notices of Default included “declarations that were n
‘accurate ad complete and supported by competent and reliable evidence’ for the reaso
pleaded herein, including that the Subject Loan had been rescinded in 2008, and|that
endorsements on the Note had been found to be evidentiary deficient by the bankrup
court, among other reasons.” (FAC { 106)aintiffs also allege, without more detail, that
Defendants failed before recording the documents to ensure that theyrbaesvéd
competentand reliable evidence to substantiate the borreveefault and the right to
foreclose, includinghe borrowers loan status and loan information(ld. (quoting Cal.
Civ. Code § 2924.17(b).)

This claim lacks plausibility. Like the borrower bucioni, 3 Cal. App. 5th 150,
Plaintiffs seeko predicate their section 2924.17 claim on Defendants’ purported lgck of
authority to foreclose on tHeubject Poperty. Their timebarred TILA rescission theory,
discussed above, strikes at the requirement that an “#nitiigting a foreclosure be legal
entitled to do so.”Seeid. at 155 (citing Cal. Civ. Code § 2924(a)(6But the relevan\t0

sing

HBOR sections do not create a right to litigate, preforeclosure, whether the forecl

party s conclusion that it had the right to foreclose w@sect” Seeld. at 163. For the

same reasons expressed by the California Court of Appkatiani, the Court concludes

Plaintiffs cannot pursue an HBOR claim under California Civil Code sections
2924.12(a)(1) and 2924.17 on this baSse idat 16263; see alspe.g, Tangumav. Law

Offices of Les ZieydNo. FO075930, 2020 WL 466632, at *16 (Cal. Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2020)
(concludingthe trial court appropriately dismissed the plainigffclaim under section
2924.17 based on her allegations challenging the defésdanthority to file the Notice
of Default”). Moreover as an independent ground for dismisslaé Court concludes
Plaintiffs cannot rely on their TILA rescission theory to support their HBOR claim becau
the Court concludethatthis theory is timebarred.
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Plaintiffs’ allegation regarding the note having “been found to be evider
deficient” alsodoes nosupport glausibleclaim under section 2924.17his allegation
concerns whetheam “endorsemernht blank”on the note for the deed of trusvaid. (FAC
19 5557.) As California’s adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code explains: “I
indorsement is made by the holder of an instrument and it is not a special indorse
is a‘blank indorsemeritWhen indorsed in blank, an instrumentbmes payable to bear
and may be negotiated by transfer of possession alone until specially ind@akdom.
Code § 320(); see alsdn re Macklin 495 B.R. 8, 13.4(Bankr. E.D. Cal. 2013noting
under California law that “[a] holder of a note can enforce that note, even if it is in wr(
possession of the note (i.e., they found or stole the note), when that note has been
in blank or to bearéy.

Meaning, this theory for Plaintiffs’ section 2924.17 claim concerns wh
BONY—as opposed to a prior holder of the retaurrently owns the beneficial interg
of the loan andk “legally entitled to” initiate foreclosure under the corresponding de
trust. See Lucioni3 Cal. App. 5th at 155This claim is similarlymplausiblebecause i
seeks to preemptively litigate BONY’s right to foreclosee id.at 155-156; see alsd
Tjaden v. HSBC Bank USA, NaAssn, 681 F. App’x 641, 644 (9th Cir. 201{tejecting
section 2924.17 claim based on lender’s purported lack of authdioetdose) Cardenag
v. Caliber Home Loans, Inc281 F. Supp. 3d 862, 870 (N.D. Cal. 2018ame);cf.
Saterbak v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.245 Cal. App. 4th 808, 814 (201@)oting
“California courts do not allow” preemptive suits challenging whether the defendal

“may initiate a nonjudicial foreclosure” becaudbey ‘would result in the impermissib
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interjection of the courts into a nonjudicial scheme enacted by the Cali
Legislature”). Therefore, the Court rejects this theory for PiffgitHBOR claim#

RoboSigners Plaintiffsalsoallege ‘it is a material violation of HBOR to use ro

signers, whichare recognized as forgeries and as individuals not reviewing compe
reliable evidence tsign or record instruments (FAC { 113.) “[Djstrict courts in this
circuit have consistently found that rebmning allegations are insufficient without so
factual support. SeelLobue v. Countrywide Home Loan, Inblo. 14CV-04878BLF,
2015 WL 13385920, at *4 (N.D. Cal. July 29, 201d8e alsdjaden 681 F. Appx at644
(“And in any event, the defects alleged here, which include the Tjadens’ialetait the

assignment of the beneficial interest under their deed of trust wasigyied, would not

be sufficient to satisfy even agtforeclosure cause of actiGh. Accordingly, Plaintiffs
do not state a claim an HBOR claim under California Civil Code sec2824.12(a)(1
and 2924.17 on this basis.

fornic

DO

[ent c

me

Remaining Allegations. Plaintiffs include several other allegations that are

derivative of their claim that the loan is invabdthat Newrez and BONY lack the author
to foreclose. They allege the recorded documents were inaccurate because “De
were not owed money by Plaintiff[s].” (FAC  111.) They similarly allege tiha
“Declaration attached to the NODs falsely attested that BANA and[MENREZ] had
the authority to contact the borrower.ld.(f 110.) The Court concludes Plaintiffs do
state a plausible HBOR claim undsgctions2924.12(a)(1) and 2924.17 basamu thesq
allegationdor the same reasons discussed above

In sum, the Court finds Plaintiffs’ claim under seci@924.12(a)(1) and 2924.]

lacks plausibility and is subject to dismissal. The Court will dismiss this claim with

4 Furthermoregven if Plaintiffs could bring an HBOR claim on this basis, their plealdicis
sufficient factual allegations to demonstratertbge’sblank endorsement is invalidThe bankruptcy cour
did not find the endorsement to be invaliddetermined there could be a triable issue of fand
Plaintiffs must do more than reference a statement fre@mbankruptcy court; they must include
underlying factual allegations that support their assettiah“the endorsement in blankinvalid and
unenforceable.” SeeFAC 1 57.)
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to amend. Thatasd, anyamendedclaim must be consistent with this order, must
depend on Plaintiffs’ timdarred allegation that their loan is inval&hd must plainly
address HBOR’s requirements concerning the 2019 Notice of Default.
2. Section 2924.9
Plaintiffs also seek injunctive relief under section 2924.12(a)(1) based on an «
materialviolation of section 2924.9. (FAC Y 107.) This section provides, in relevan

(a) Unless a borrower has previously exhausted the first lien loan modifica
process offered by, or through, his or her mortgage servicerwithin five
business days after recording a notice of defaulta mortgage servicer that
offers one or more foreclosure prevention alternatives shall send a written
communicatn to the borrower that includes all of the following information:

(1) That the borrower may be evaluated for a foreclosure prevention
alternative or, if applicable, foreclosure prevention alternatives
Cal. Civ. Code § 2929.
Plaintiffs allege Defendants “were required to offer alternatives to foreclost
behalfof the valid, legal creditgwhich Defendants failed to do, and therefore, Defenc
are in material violation of Civil Code § 2924.9.” (FAC 1 107 (emphasis added).) PId

not

nllege

L part

re ol
ants
untiff

similarly allege that “Defendants could not offer legitimate alternatives to foreclosure

where Defendantdid not identify or consult with an authorized creditor(ld. § 108
(emphasis added).) Hence, Plaintiffs claim Defendants “could not and did not offe
an authorized written communication within five business days after recordifigotinee
of Default], or ever.” Id.)

Having reviewed Plaintiffs’ pleading, the Court concludes Plaintiffs do not s
plausible HBOR claim ba&sl on section 2924.9. Their conclusory allegations
intertwined with theirtime-barredtheory that the loahas beenescindedor is invalid.

(See, e.g.FAC 91 10809 (qualifying allegations withlimiting language such &

“authorized communication,” “authorized creditofyalid, legal creditor,” authorized

written communication” andepeatedlyarguing Defendants “could not” meséction

2924.9's requirements). Given that Plaintiffs cannot proceed on this titesrpleading
-17 -
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lacks weltpleaded factual allegations demonstrating that their current loan serviger he

materially violated section 2924.9See Twombly 550 U.S. at 555“[A] plaintiff's

obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief’ requires more tabels

andconclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will nc

do.”).
Therefore the Court finds it appropriate to dismiss this claifrovided Plaintiffs

14

have not already exhausted the loan modification process;AC { 50), 1 is conceivable
that Plaintiffs’ servicer has not complied with section 2924 .€onnection with the 2019
Notice of Default Therefore, the Court will dismiss this claim without prejudice.

However, anyamendedsection2924.12(a)(1) clainbased on sean 2924.9 must nat

~

depend on Plaintiffs’ timdarred allegation that their loan is invakthd must plainly
addres#+HBOR'’s requirements concerning t8@19 Notice of Default.
3.  Section 2923.7

Section 2923.7 provides that “[w]hen a borroweuests a f@closure prevention

alternative, the mortgage servicer shall promptly establish a single point of contact al

provide to the borrower one or more direct means of communication with the single poil

of contact.” Cal. Civ. Code § 2923.California enacte sction 2923.7 as part of is

attempt “to eliminate the practice of dual tracking and to ameliorate its effects, by requirin

lenders and loan servicersdesignate asingle point of contattfor each borrower in

> BANA also persuasively argues Plaintiffs’ HBOR claim against it is-tiaeed. (BANA's
Mot. 4:24-5:10.) Because HBOR does not contain its own statute of limitations, Californpadaides

the limitations period is three yearSeeCal. Code Civ. Proc. 8 338 (providing a claim must be brought

within “three years” if it is “[a]n action upon a liability created by statudel alsaVarcus v. Bank of

Am., NANo. CV 191747 PA (FFMX), 2019 WL 6357254, at *3 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 15, 2019). Relying on

this limitations period, BANA argues it has not “recorded any forecleslated documents within the
past three years, and the notice of default forming the basis for this claim shawdame ithat it was
recorded by the foreclosure trustee at the direction of NewRez . . . as mortgager serhehalf of

BONY. (BANA's Mot. 5:4-8.) Plaintiffs do not provide a convincing response. They argue their HBOR

claim “relates to Defndants’ collection activities in 2019 afig] not timebarred,” (Opp’n to BANA'’s
Mot. 18:4-7), but the only factual allegation in their pleading from 2019 concerns a noticiaolt dent
by “Shellpoint,” not BANA, 6eeFAC 11 5963). The Court agredbat theFirst Amended Complair
lacks sufficient factual allegations to plausibly state an HBOR claim against BANA

—
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default.” Nasseri v. Wells Fargo Bank,A, 147 F. Supp. 3d 937, 9484 (N.D. Cal. 2015
(quotingJolley v. Chase Home Finance, LLZ13 CalApp. 4th 872, 9042013)). “Dual
tracking” refers to a “common bank tactic” where the bank continues to pursue fore
at the same time the borrewis seeking a loan modificatiorsee Jolley213 Cal. App
4th at 904. The concern is that “the borrower does not know where he or she sta
by the time foreclosure becomes the leiglelear choice, it is too late for the borrowe

find optiors to avoid it” 1d. Section 2923.7’s single point of contact provision “is inten

closu

nds, :
[ to
ded

to prevent borrowers from being given the run around, being told one thing by onge bar

employee while something entirely different is being pursued by arotlteat 904-05.

A violation of section 2923.7i$ actionable only when that violation is matefis
Shupe v. Nationstar Mortg. LL@31 F. Supp. 3d 597, 603 (E.D. Cal. 2QE€ék alscCal.
Civ. Code § 2924.12(a) (creating a cause of action to enjomaaetial violation” of

section 2923.7 (emphasis added)).Material violation is one wheféhe alleged violatiol

affected a plaintiffs loan obligations or the modification proc&ssShupe 231 F. Supp.

3d at 603 (quotingcornejo v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLT51 F.Supp.3d 1102, 1113
(E.D. Cal. 2015} see alsdowling v. Bank of Am., N.ANo. 114-cv-0104:DAD-SAB,
2017 WL 3284675, at *5 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 2, 201(7)F] ederal district courts hay
concluded that a material violation must interfere with a homeowner’s right
‘considered fdror to have'a meaningful opportunityto obtain a loan modification (
other foreclosure alternativi.

Here, Plaintiffs “allege that they were not designated a single point of cor
(FAC 1 118.) Howevethe statite requires assignment of a single point of contact “[w
a borrower requests a foreclosure prevention alternati8eéCal. Civ. Code § 2923.]

Plaintiffs do not allege they requested suchagailable alternativéor the nonjudicia
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foreclosure comnenced in 2019 (SeeFAC 11 10519.° Moreover, Plaintiffs do ng
include factual allegations demonstrating how “the alleged violation” affected'ltren
obligations or the modification process.See Shupe231 F. Supp. 3d at 603Their
conclusory allegationsuggesting otherwise are insufficier@@f. id. (noting the plaintiffs

“have not explained how the alleged denial of their right to a [single point of cant

any way affected their loan obligations or the modificationgse;Nasserj 147 F. Supp.

3d at 944 (reasoning the plaintiff stated a section 2923.7 claim wtiersingle point of
contact allegedly “provided incorrect information regarding what foreclosure prevg
alternatives were available to herSge also Foster v. Reverse Mortgage Solutions,
No. CV-1910039DSF (FFMX), 2020 WL 4390374, at *% (C.D. Cal. May 13, 2020}
The Court will not assume that the alleged violation of section 2923.7 was magae
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 @ claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads fact
content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant
for the misconduct alleged.”).

Accordingly, the Court finds it appropriate to dismiss this claim. The Couri

similarly dismiss this claim with leave to amend, but anyendedsection 2924.12(a)(1

claim based on section 2923.7 must not depend on Plaintiffs’aared allegation thd
their loan is invalid and must plainly address HBOR'’s requirements concerning th
Notice of Default.
IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the CoGRANTS Defendants Newrez and BONY
Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 13) and Defendant BANA’s Motion to DismissHED.
15). The Court dismissasith prejudicePlaintiffs’ count ondo enforce a rescission ung
the Truth in Lending Ac(FAC 11 64-103) because the claim is tirtarred. The Coul

6 The only mention of a loan modification appears in Plaintiffs’ factual atiiegs regarding
bankruptcy proceedings from 2011 to 2015. There, Plaintiffs allege: “At one point, Mikel ars
Toye submitted an application to BANA for a Loan Modification. It was deniedAC(F 50.) This
allegation does not statgpkausible section 2923.7 claingee supra notg.
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also dismisses with prejudi€daintiffs’ count fourfor quiet title(FAC 19 12638) because

the underlying theory of reliefrescission under TILA-is time-barred. Finally, the Cou
dismisseswithout prejudicePlaintiff's count twounder California’s Homeowner Bill ¢
Rights(FAC 11 10419). If Plaintiffs choose to file a Second Amended Complaint rai
an amended HBOR claithat is consistent with the Court’s analysis above, they mug
the Second Amended Complamd later thanAugust 21, 2020 Plaintiffs do not hav

leave to file any new causes of action or add new pariss claims or new parties mq
only be added through a noticed motion for leave to amend.
IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED: August 7, 2020 {;_f_.{'l't_(-ff‘ff‘-_ 4 *-;:.3}{1}{{{?4'1_;(1
Homn. Cynthia Bashant
United States District Judge
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